

Sample &

Buv





SLVSAX7E - AUGUST 2011 - REVISED AUGUST 2016

# TPS65270 4.5-V to 18-V Input Voltage, 2-A or 3-A Output Current, Dual Synchronous Step-**Down Regulator With Integrated MOSFET**

Technical

Documents

#### Features 1

- Wide Input Supply Voltage Range: 4.5 V to 18 V
- 0.8 V, ±1% Accuracy Reference
- Up to 2-A (Buck 1) and 3-A (Buck 2) Maximum Continuous Output Loading Current
- Low-Power Pulse Skipping Mode to Achieve High Light Load Efficiency
- Adjustable Switching Frequency 300 kHz to 1.4 MHz Set by External Resistor
- Startup With a Prebiased Output Voltage
- Dedicated Enable and Soft Start for Each Buck
- Peak Current-Mode Control With Simple Compensation Circuit
- Cycle-by-Cycle Overcurrent Protection
- 180° Out-of-Phase Operation to Reduce Input Capacitance and Power Supply Induced Noise
- Available in 24-Lead Thermally Enhanced HTSSOP (PWP) and VQFN 4-mm x 4-mm (RGE) Packages

#### 2 Applications

- DTV
- **DSL Modems**
- Cable Modems
- Set-Top Boxes
- Car DVD Players
- Home Gateway and Access Point Networks
- Wireless Routers



### **Typical Application**

### 3 Description

Tools &

Software

The TPS65270 is a monolithic, dual synchronous buck regulator with a wide operating input voltage that can operate in 5-V, 9-V, 12-V, or 15-V bus voltages and battery chemistries. The converters are designed to simplify its application while giving the designer the option to optimize their usage according to the target application.

Support &

Community

**.**...

The TPS65270 features a precision 0.8-V reference and can produce output voltages up to 15 V. Each converter features an enable pin that allows dedicated control of each channel that provides flexibility for power sequencing. Soft-start time in each channel can be adjusted by choosing different external capacitors. TPS65270 is also able to start up with a prebiased output. The converter begins switching when output voltage reaches the prebiased voltage.

Constant frequency peak current-mode control simplifies the compensation and provides fast Cycle-by-cycle transient response. overcurrent protection and hiccup mode operation limits MOSFET power dissipation in short-circuit or overloading fault conditions. Low-side reverse current protection also prevents excessive sinking current from damaging the converter.

#### Device Information<sup>(1)</sup>

PART NUMBER	PACKAGE	BODY SIZE (NOM)
TDSSE070	HTSSOP (24)	7.80 mm × 4.40 mm
12303270	VQFN (24)	4.00 mm × 4.00 mm

(1) For all available packages, see the orderable addendum at the end of the data sheet.

#### Efficiency vs Output Load



An IMPORTANT NOTICE at the end of this data sheet addresses availability, warranty, changes, use in safety-critical applications, intellectual property matters and other important disclaimers. PRODUCTION DATA.

NSTRUMENTS www.ti.com

Page

EXAS

# **Table of Contents**

1	Feat	tures 1							
2	Арр	lications 1							
3	Description1								
4	Revision History								
5	Des	cription (continued)3							
6	Pin	Configuration and Functions 3							
7	Spe	cifications 4							
	7.1	Absolute Maximum Ratings 4							
	7.2	ESD Ratings 4							
	7.3	Recommended Operating Conditions 4							
	7.4	Thermal Information 5							
	7.5	Electrical Characteristics5							
	7.6	Typical Characteristics 7							
8	Deta	ailed Description 8							
	8.1	Overview 8							
	8.2	Functional Block Diagram 9							
	8.3	Feature Description9							

	8.4	Device Functional Modes 11
9	Арр	lication and Implementation 13
	9.1	Application Information 13
	9.2	Typical Application 13
10	Pow	ver Supply Recommendations 18
11	Lay	out
	11.1	Layout Guidelines 18
	11.2	Layout Example 19
	11.3	Power Dissipation 19
12	Dev	ice and Documentation Support 21
	12.1	Documentation Support 21
	12.2	Receiving Notification of Documentation Updates 21
	12.3	Community Resources 21
	12.4	Trademarks 21
	12.5	Electrostatic Discharge Caution 21
	12.6	Glossary 21
13	Mec Info	hanical, Packaging, and Orderable mation

### 4 Revision History

NOTE: Page numbers for previous revisions may differ from page numbers in the current version.

### Changes from Revision D (April 2013) to Revision E

•	Added ESD Ratings table, Feature Description section, Device Functional Modes, Application and Implementation section, Power Supply Recommendations section, Layout section, Device and Documentation Support section, and Mechanical, Packaging, and Orderable Information section.	. 1
•	Deleted Ordering Information table; see POA at the end of the data sheet	. 1
•	Changed maximum value of Voltage on VIN1, VIN2, LX1, LX2 from 18 to 20	. 4
•	Changed maximum value of Voltage at LX1, LX2 (maximum withstand voltage transient < 10 ns) from 18 to 23	. 4
•	Changed maximum value of Operating virtual junction temperature, T <sub>J</sub> from 125 to 150	. 4
•	Changed Ambient temperature (T <sub>A</sub> ) to Junction temperature (T <sub>J</sub> ) in <i>Recommended Operating Conditions</i> table and maximum value from 85 to 125	. 4
•	Updated values in the Thermal Information table to align with JEDEC standards	. 5
•	Changed EN1 and EN2 pin threshold (falling) typical value to maximum value in Electrical Characteristics table	. 5
•	Changed PSM low power mode threshold (falling) typical value to maximum value in Electrical Characteristics table	. 5



### **5** Description (continued)

The switching frequency of the converters can be set from 300 KHz to 1.4 MHz with an external resistor. Two converters have 180° out-of-phase clock signals to minimize the input filter requirements and alleviate EMI and input capacitor requirements.

TPS65270 also features a light-load pulse skipping mode (PSM). The PSM mode allows a power loss reduction on the input power supplied to the system at light loading in order to achieve light-load high efficiency.

The TPS65270 is available in a 24-pin, thermally enhanced HTSSOP (PWP) package and 24-pin VQFN (RGE) package.

### 6 Pin Configuration and Functions



#### **Pin Functions**

PIN		1/0	DESCRIPTION		
NAME	HTSSOP	VQFN	1/0	DESCRIPTION	
AGND	7	22	Power	Analog ground. Connect all GND pins and power pad together.	
BST1	24	15	0	Bootstrapped power supply to high side floating gate driver in Buck 1. Connect a 47-nF ceramic capacitor from this pin to the switching node pin LX1.	
BST2	13	4	0	Bootstrapped power supply to high side floating gate driver in Buck 2. Connect a 47-nF ceramic capacitor from this pin to the switching node pin LX2.	
COMP1	4	19	0	Loop compensation pin for Buck 1. Connect a series RC circuit to this pin to compensate the control loop of this converter.	
COMP2	9	24	0	Loop compensation pin for Buck 2. Connect a series RC circuit to this pin to compensate the control loop of this converter.	
EN1	1	16	I	Enable for Buck 1. Logic high enables the Buck 1; Logic low disables Buck 1. If pin is left open a weak internal pullup to internal V5V allows for automatic enable; For a delayed start-up add a small ceramic capacitor from this pin to ground.	
EN2	12	3	I	Enable for Buck 2. Logic high enables the Buck 2. Logic low disables Buck 2. If pin is left open a weak internal pullup to internal V5V allows for automatic enable; For a delayed start-up add a small ceramic capacitor from this pin to ground.	
FB1	2	17	I	Feedback voltage for Buck 1. Connect a resistor divider to set 0.8 V from the output of the converter to ground.	

Copyright © 2011–2016, Texas Instruments Incorporated

**TPS65270** SLVSAX7E – AUGUST 2011–REVISED AUGUST 2016

www.ti.com

**STRUMENTS** 

EXAS

### Pin Functions (continued)

PIN			DESCRIPTION		
NAME	HTSSOP	VQFN	1/0	DESCRIPTION	
FB2	11	2	Ι	Feedback voltage for Buck 2. Connect a resistor divider to set 0.8 V from the output of the converter to ground.	
GND	17, 18, 19, 20	8, 9, 10, 11	Power	Power ground for Buck 1 and Buck 2.	
LOW_P	5	20	I	Low power operation mode. With active high, Buck 1 and Buck 2 operate at pulse skipping mode at light load; active low forces both Buck 1 and Buck 2 to PWM mode; this pin cannot be left open.	
LX1	21, 22	12, 13	0	Switching node connecting to inductor for Buck 1.	
LX2	15, 16	6, 7	0	Switching node connecting to inductor for Buck 2.	
ROSC	8	23	0	Oscillator frequency setup. Connect a resistor to ground to set the frequency of internal oscillator clock.	
SS1	3	18	0	Soft start input for Buck 1. An internal 5-µA charging current is sourcing to this pin. Connect a small ceramic capacitor to this pin to set the Buck 1 soft-start time.	
SS2	10	1	0	Soft start input for Buck 2. An internal 5-µA charging current is sourcing to this pin. Connect a small ceramic capacitor to this pin to set the Buck 1 soft-start time.	
VCC	6	21	0	Internal 6.5-V power supply bias. Connect a 10-µF ceramic capacitor from this pin to ground.	
VIN1	23	14	Power	Input supply for Buck 1. Conne ct a 10-µF ceramic capacitor close to this pin.	
VIN2	14	5	Power	Input supply for Buck 2. Connect a 10-µF ceramic capacitor close to this pin.	
Thermal Pad	—	—	_	Must be soldered to PCB for optimal thermal performance. Have thermal vias on the PCB to enhance power dissipation.	

### 7 Specifications

### 7.1 Absolute Maximum Ratings

over operating free-air temperature range (unless otherwise noted)<sup>(1)</sup>

	MIN	MAX	UNIT
Voltage at VIN1, VIN2, LX1, LX2	-0.3	20	V
Voltage at LX1, LX2 (maximum withstand voltage transient < 10 ns)	-1	23	V
Voltage at BST1, BST2, referenced to LX1, LX2 pin	-0.3	7	V
Voltage at VCC, EN1, EN2, COMP1, COMP2, LOW_P	-0.3	7	V
Voltage at SS1, SS2, FB1, FB2, ROSC	-0.3	3.6	V
Voltage at AGND, GND	-0.3	0.3	V
Operating virtual junction temperature, T <sub>J</sub>	-40	150	°C
Storage temperature, T <sub>stg</sub>	-55	150	°C

(1) Stresses beyond those listed under Absolute Maximum Ratings may cause permanent damage to the device. These are stress ratings only, which do not imply functional operation of the device at these or any other conditions beyond those indicated under Recommended Operating Conditions. Exposure to absolute-maximum-rated conditions for extended periods may affect device reliability.

### 7.2 ESD Ratings

			VALUE	UNIT
V <sub>(ESD)</sub>	Electrostatia discharge	Human-body model (HBM), per ANSI/ESDA/JEDEC JS-001 <sup>(1)</sup>	±2000	V
	Electrostatic discharge	Charged-device model (CDM), per JEDEC specification JESD22-C101 <sup>(2)</sup>	±500	V

(1) JEDEC document JEP155 states that 500-V HBM allows safe manufacturing with a standard ESD control process.

(2) JEDEC document JEP157 states that 250-V CDM allows safe manufacturing with a standard ESD control process.

### 7.3 Recommended Operating Conditions

over operating free-air temperature range (unless otherwise noted)

	MIN	MAX	UNIT
V <sub>IN</sub> Input operating voltage	4.5	18	V
T <sub>J</sub> Junction temperature	-40	125	°C

4 Submit Documentation Feedback

Copyright © 2011–2016, Texas Instruments Incorporated

### 7.4 Thermal Information

		TPS6		
	THERMAL METRIC <sup>(1)(2)</sup>	PWP (HTSSOP)	RGE (VQFN)	UNIT
		24 PINS	24 PINS	
$R_{\thetaJA}$	Junction-to-ambient thermal resistance	41.3	33.8	°C/W
$R_{\theta JC(top)}$	Junction-to-case (top) thermal resistance	23.9	36.2	°C/W
$R_{\theta J B}$	Junction-to-board thermal resistance	22.6	12.1	°C/W
ΨJT	Junction-to-top characterization parameter	0.8	0.4	°C/W
Ψјв	Junction-to-board characterization parameter	22.4	12.2	°C/W
R <sub>0JC(bot)</sub>	Junction-to-case (bottom) thermal resistance	4	2.5	°C/W

(1) For more information about traditional and new thermal metrics, see the Semiconductor and IC Package Thermal Metrics application report.

(2) See PowerPAD<sup>™</sup> Thermally Enhanced Package.

### 7.5 Electrical Characteristics

 $T_{\text{A}}$  = –40°C to 125°C,  $V_{\text{IN}}$  = 12 V,  $f_{\text{SW}}$  = 625 kHz (unless otherwise noted)

	PARAMETER	TEST CONDITIONS	MIN	TYP	MAX	UNIT
INPUT SU	PPLY					
V <sub>IN</sub>	Input Voltage	VIN1 and VIN2	4.5		18	V
IDD <sub>SDN</sub>	Shutdown	EN1 = EN2 = 0 V		10		μA
IDD <sub>Q_nsw</sub>	Nonswitching quiescent power supply current	$V_{FB1} = V_{FB2} = 900 \text{ mV}, \text{ LOW}_P = \text{high}$		1		mA
		Rising V <sub>IN</sub>	4	4.2	4.45	
UVLO	V <sub>IN</sub> undervoltage lockout	Falling V <sub>IN</sub>	3.65	3.85	4.1	V
		Hysteresis		0.35		
V <sub>CC</sub>	Internal biasing supply	$V_{CC}$ load current = 0 A, $V_{IN}$ = 12 V		6.25		V
V <sub>CC_drop</sub>	V <sub>CC</sub> LDO Dropout Voltage	V <sub>IN</sub> = 5 V, V <sub>CC</sub> load current = 20 mA		180		mV
I <sub>VCC</sub>	V <sub>CC</sub> current limit	4.5 V < V <sub>IN</sub> < 18 V		200		mA
FEEDBAC	K AND ERROR AMPLIFIER					
		$V_{IN} = 12 \text{ V}$ , $V_{COM}P = 1.2 \text{ V}$ , $T_J = 25^{\circ}C$	-1%	0.8	1%	V
V <sub>FB</sub>	Regulated feedback voltage	$V_{IN} = 12 \text{ V}, \text{ V}_{COMP} = 1.2 \text{ V}, \text{ T}_{J} = -40^{\circ}\text{C} \text{ to } 125^{\circ}\text{C}$	-2%	0.8	2%	
V <sub>LINEREG</sub>	Line regulation: DC	V <sub>IN</sub> = 4.5 V to 18 V, I <sub>OUT</sub> = 1 A		0.5		%/V
VLOADREG	Load regulation: DC	I <sub>OUT</sub> = 10% to 90%, I <sub>OUT,MAX</sub>		0.4		%/A
G <sub>m_EA</sub>	Error amplifier transconductance	–2 μA < I <sub>COMP</sub> < 2 μA		130		μs
G <sub>m_SRC</sub>	COMP voltage to inductor current Gm	ILX = 0.5 A		10		A/V
ENABLE,	PFM MODE AND SOFT START					
	EN1 and EN2 pin threshold	Rising	1.55			V
VEN		Falling			0.4	
	DOM loss a superior de diversite de la	Rising	1.55			
V <sub>PSM</sub>	PSM low power mode threshold	Falling			0.4	V
I <sub>SS</sub>	SS1 and SS2 soft-start charging current			5		μA
OSCILLA	FOR					
F <sub>SW_BK</sub>	Switching frequency	Set by external resistor ROSC	0.3		1.4	MHz
-		ROSC = 250 kΩ	0.85	1	1.15	MHz
FSW	Programmable frequency	ROSC = 500 kΩ	425	500	575	kHz
PROTECT	ION					
I <sub>LIMIT1</sub>	Buck 1 peak inductor current limit	4.5 V < V <sub>IN</sub> < 18 V		3.2		А
I <sub>LIMIT1_LS1</sub>	Buck 1 low side MOSFET current limit	4.5 V < V <sub>IN</sub> < 18 V		2		А
I <sub>LIMIT2</sub>	Buck 2 peak inductor current limit	4.5 V < V <sub>IN</sub> < 18 V		4.1		А
I <sub>LIMIT1_LS2</sub>	Buck 2 low side MOSFET current limit	4.5 V < V <sub>IN</sub> < 18 V		2		А

Copyright © 2011–2016, Texas Instruments Incorporated

STRUMENTS

EXAS

### **Electrical Characteristics (continued)**

 $T_A = -40^{\circ}C$  to 125°C,  $V_{IN} = 12$  V,  $f_{SW} = 625$  kHz (unless otherwise noted)

	PARAMETER	TEST CONDITIONS	MIN	TYP	MAX	UNIT		
MOSFET ON-RESISTANCES								
R <sub>dson_HS1</sub>	On resistance of high side FET on CH1	BST1 to LX1 = 6.25 V		120		mΩ		
R <sub>dson_LS1</sub>	On resistance of low side FET on CH1	V <sub>IN</sub> = 12 V		80		mΩ		
R <sub>dson_HS2</sub>	On resistance of high side FET on CH2	BST2 to LX2 = 6.25 V		95		mΩ		
R <sub>dson_LS2</sub>	On resistance of low side FET on CH2	V <sub>IN</sub> = 12 V		50		mΩ		
T <sub>on_min</sub>	Minimum in time			80	120	ns		
THERMAL	SHUTDOWN							
T <sub>TRIP</sub>	Thermal protection trip point	Rising temperature		160		°C		
T <sub>HYST</sub>	Thermal protection hysteresis			20		°C		

6



### 7.6 Typical Characteristics

 $T_{\text{A}} = 25^{\circ}\text{C}, \ V_{\text{IN}} = 12 \ \text{V}, \ f_{\text{SW}} = 625 \ \text{kHz}$  (unless otherwise noted)





### 8 Detailed Description

### 8.1 Overview

TPS65270 is a power management IC with two step-down buck converters. Both high-side and low-side MOSFETs are integrated to provide fully synchronous conversion with higher efficiency. TPS65270 can support 4.5-V to 18-V input supply, 2-A continuous current for Buck 1 and 3 A for Buck 2. The buck converters have an automatic PSM mode, which can improve power dissipation during light loads. Alternatively, the device implements a constant frequency mode by connecting the LOW\_P pin to ground. The wide switching frequency of 300 kHz to 1.4 MHz allows for efficiency and size optimization. The switching frequency is adjustable by selecting a resistor to ground on the ROSC pin. Input ripple is reduced by 180° out-of-phase operation between Buck 1 and Buck 2.

Both buck converters have peak current mode control which simplifies the loop compensation. A traditional type II compensation network can stabilize the system and achieve fast transient response. Moreover, an optional capacitor in parallel with the upper resistor of the feedback divider provides one more zero and makes the crossover frequency over 100 kHz. Each buck converter has an individual cycle-by-cycle current limit and low side reverse current limit.

The device has a built-in LDO regulator. During a standby mode, the 6.5-V LDO can be used to drive MCU and other active loads. with this LDO, system is able to turn off the two buck converters so as to reduce the power consumption and improve the standby efficiency. Each converter has its own programmable soft start that can reduce the input inrush current. The individual Enable pins for each independent control of each output voltage and power sequence.



### 8.2 Functional Block Diagram



Note: Pin numbers in block diagram are for HTSSOP (PWP) 24-pin package.

Copyright © 2016, Texas Instruments Incorporated

### 8.3 Feature Description

### 8.3.1 Adjustable Switching Frequency

To select the internal switching frequency connect a resistor from ROSC to ground. Figure 7 shows the required resistance for a given switching frequency.

(1)

(2)

**NSTRUMENTS** 

FXAS

### Feature Description (continued)



Figure 7. ROSC vs Switching Frequency

 $R_{OSC}(k\Omega) = 239.13 \times f_{SW}^{-1.149}$ 

For operation at 800 kHz, a 300-k $\Omega$  resistor is required.

### 8.3.2 Out-of-Phase Operation

To reduce input ripple current, Buck 1 and Buck 2 operate 180° out-of-phase. This enables the system having less input ripple, then to lower component cost, save board space and reduce EMI.

#### 8.3.3 Delayed Start-Up

If a delayed start-up is required on any of the buck converters fit a ceramic capacitor to the ENx pins. The delay added is approximately 0.75 ms per nF connected to the pin. The EN pins have a weak 1-M $\Omega$  pullup to the 5-V rail.

### 8.3.4 Soft-Start Time

The device has an internal pullup current source of 5  $\mu$ A that charges an external slow start capacitor to implement a slow start time. Equation 2 shows how to select a slow start capacitor based on an expected slow start time. The voltage reference (V<sub>REF</sub>) is 0.8 V and the slow start charge current (I<sub>ss</sub>) is 5  $\mu$ A. The soft-start circuit requires 1 nF per 160  $\mu$ s to be connected at the SS pin. An 800- $\mu$ s soft-start time is implemented for all converters fitting 4.7 nF to the relevant pins.

$$t_{SS} \text{ (ms)} = V_{REF} \text{ (V)} \times \left(\frac{C_{SS} \text{ (nF)}}{I_{SS} \text{ (\muA)}}\right)$$

#### 8.3.5 Adjusting the Output Voltage

The output voltage is set with a resistor divider from the output node to the FB pin. TI recommends using divider resistors of 1% tolerance or better. To improve efficiency at light load, start with 40.2 k $\Omega$  for the R1 resistor and use the Equation 3 to calculate R2.

$$R2 = R1 \times \left(\frac{0.8 \text{ V}}{\text{V}_{\text{O}} - 0.8 \text{ V}}\right)$$
(3)



### Feature Description (continued)



Figure 8. Voltage Divider Circuit

### 8.3.6 Error Amplifier

The device has a transconductance error amplifier. The transconductance of the error amplifier is 130 µA/V during normal operation. The frequency compensation network is connected between the COMP pin and ground.

#### 8.3.7 Slope Compensation

The device has a built-in slope compensation ramp. The slope compensation can prevent subharmonic oscillations in peak current mode control when duty cycle becomes too large.

#### 8.3.8 Overcurrent Protection

The current through the internal high-side MOSFET is sampled and scaled through an internal pilot device during the hig time. The sampled current is compared to overcurrent limit. If the peak inductor current exceeds the overcurrent limit reference level, an internal overcurrent fault counter is set to 1 and an internal flag is set. The internal power MOSFET is immediately turned off and is not turned on again until the next switching cycle. The protection circuitry continues to monitor the current and turns off the internal MOSFET as described. If the overcurrent fault condition persists for four sequential clock cycles, the overcurrent fault counter overflows indicating an overcurrent fault condition exists. The regulator is shut down and power good goes low. If the overcurrent condition clears before the counter reaches four consecutive cycles, the internal flag and counter are reset. The protection circuitry attempts to recover from the overcurrent condition after waiting four soft-start cycles. The internal overcurrent flag and counter are reset. A normal soft-start cycle is attempted and normal operation continues if the fault condition has cleared. If the overcurrent fault counter overflows during soft start, the converter shuts down and this hiccup mode operation repeats.

#### 8.3.9 Thermal Shutdown

The device implements an internal thermal shutdown to protect itself if the junction temperature exceeds 160°C. The thermal shutdown forces the device to stop switching when the junction temperature exceeds thermal trip threshold. Once the die temperature decreases below 140°C, the device reinitiates the power up sequence. The thermal shutdown hysteresis is 20°C.

#### 8.3.10 Low Power Mode Operation

By pulling the Low\_P pin high all converters operate in pulse-skipping mode, greatly reducing the overall power consumption at light and no load conditions. When LOW\_P is tied to low, all converters run in forced PWM mode.

### 8.4 Device Functional Modes

#### 8.4.1 Operation With Minimum $V_{IN}$ ( $V_{IN}$ < 4.45 V)

The device will operate with input voltages above the 4.45-V UVLO maximum voltage. The typical UVLO voltage is 4.2 V and the device may operate at input voltage above this point. The device may also operate with lower input voltages; the minimum UVLO voltage is 4 V (rising) and 3.65 V (falling). The device will not operate with input voltages below the UVLO minimum voltage.



### **Device Functional Modes (continued)**

#### 8.4.2 Operation With EN Control

The enable rising edge threshold voltage is 1.55 V (minimum) and falling edge threshold voltage is 0.4 V (maximum). With EN held below 0.4 V the device is disabled and switching is inhibited. The IC quiescent current is reduced in this state. The device becomes active when input voltage is above the UVLO threshold and the EN voltage is increased above 1.55 V. Switching is enabled and the internal soft-start sequence is initiated as shown in Figure 13.



#### TPS65270 SLVSAX7E – AUGUST 2011–REVISED AUGUST 2016

### 9 Application and Implementation

#### NOTE

Information in the following applications sections is not part of the TI component specification, and TI does not warrant its accuracy or completeness. TI's customers are responsible for determining suitability of components for their purposes. Customers should validate and test their design implementation to confirm system functionality.

#### 9.1 Application Information

The device is a dual-synchronous, step-down DC-DC converter. It is typically used to convert a higher DC voltage to lower DC voltages with continuous available output current of 2 A or 3 A.

### 9.2 Typical Application



Figure 9. Typical Application Schematic

#### 9.2.1 Design Requirements

For this design example, use the parameters listed in Table 1 as the input parameters.

PARAMETER	EXAMPLE VALUE						
V <sub>OUT</sub> 1	1.8 V						
I <sub>OUT</sub> 1	2 A						
V <sub>OUT</sub> 2	1.2 V						
I <sub>OUT</sub> 2	3 A						
Transient response (1-A load step)	±5%						
Input voltage	12 V (typical), 4.5 V to 18 V						
Output voltage ripple	±1%						
Switching frequency	625 kHz						

## 9.2.2 Detailed Design Procedure 9.2.2.1 Output Inductor Selection

To calculate the value of the output inductor, use Equation 4. LIR is a coefficient that represents the amount of inductor ripple current relative to the maximum output current. The inductor ripple current is filtered by the output capacitor. Therefore, choosing high inductor ripple currents impact the selection of the output capacitor since the output capacitor must have a ripple current rating equal to or greater than the inductor ripple current. In general, the inductor ripple value is at the discretion of the designer; however, LIR is normally from 0.1 to 0.3 for the majority of applications.

$$L = \frac{V_{IN max} - V_{OUT}}{I_{O} \times LIR} \times \frac{V_{OUT}}{V_{IN max} \times f_{SW}}$$
(4)

For the output filter inductor, it is important that the RMS current and saturation current ratings not be exceeded. The RMS and peak inductor current can be found from Equation 6 and Equation 7.

$$I_{ripple} = \frac{V_{IN max} - V_{OUT}}{L} \times \frac{V_{OUT}}{V_{IN max} \times f_{SW}}$$
(5)  

$$I_{Lrms} = \sqrt{I_0^2 + \frac{\left(\frac{V_{OUT} \times (V_{IN max} - V_{OUT})}{V_{IN max} \times L \times f_{SW}}\right)^2}{12}}$$
(6)  

$$I_{Lpeak} = I_{OUT} + \frac{I_{ripple}}{2}$$
(7)

The current flowing through the inductor is the inductor ripple current plus the output current. During power up, faults or transient load conditions, the inductor current can increase above the calculated peak inductor current level calculated above. In transient conditions, the inductor current can increase up to the switch current limit of the device. For this reason, the most conservative approach is to specify an inductor with a saturation current rating equal to or greater than the switch current limit rather than the peak inductor current.

#### 9.2.2.2 Output Capacitor Selection

There are three primary considerations for selecting the value of the output capacitor. The output capacitor determines the modulator pole, the output voltage ripple, and how the regulator responds to a large change in load current. The output capacitance needs to be selected based on the most stringent of these three criteria.

The desired response to a large change in the load current is the first criteria. The output capacitor needs to supply the load with current when the regulator cannot. This situation would occur if there are desired hold-up times for the regulator where the output capacitor must hold the output voltage above a certain level for a specified amount of time after the input power is removed. The regulator is also temporarily not able to supply sufficient output current if there is a large, fast increase in the current needs of the load such as a transition from no load to full load. The regulator usually needs two or more clock cycles for the control loop to see the change in load current and output voltage and adjust the duty cycle to react to the change. The output capacitor must be sized to supply the extra current to the load until the control loop responds to the load change. The output capacitance must be large enough to supply the difference in current for 2 clock cycles while only allowing a tolerable amount of droop in the output voltage. Equation 8 shows the minimum output capacitance necessary to accomplish this.

$$C_{O} = \frac{2 \times \Delta I_{OUT}}{f_{SW} \times \Delta V_{OUT}}$$

where

- $\Delta I_{out}$  is the change in output current
- $f_{sw}$  is the regulators switching frequency
- $\Delta V_{out}$  is the allowable change in the output voltage.

Equation 9 calculates the minimum output capacitance needed to meet the output voltage ripple specification.

www.ti.com

(8)



(9)

$$C_{O} > \frac{1}{8 \times f_{SW}} \times \frac{1}{\frac{V_{Oripple}}{I_{Oripple}}}$$

where

- $f_{sw}$  is the switching frequency.
- V<sub>ripple</sub> is the maximum allowable output voltage ripple.
- $\bullet \quad I_{\text{ripple}} \text{ is the inductor ripple current.} \\$

Equation 10 calculates the maximum ESR an output capacitor can have to meet the output voltage ripple specification.

$$\mathsf{R}_{esr} < \frac{\mathsf{V}_{Oripple}}{\mathsf{I}_{Oripple}} \tag{10}$$

Additional capacitance deratings for aging, temperature and DC bias should be factored in which increases this minimum value. Capacitors generally have limits to the amount of ripple current they can handle without failing or producing excess heat. An output capacitor that can support the inductor ripple current must be specified. Some capacitor data sheets specify the root mean square (RMS) value of the maximum ripple current. Equation 11 can be used to calculate the RMS ripple current the output capacitor needs to support.

$$I_{Lrms} = \frac{V_{OUT} \times (V_{IN max} - V_{OUT})}{\sqrt{12} \times V_{IN max} \times L \times f_{SW}}$$
(11)

#### 9.2.2.3 Input Capacitor Selection

The TPS65265 requires a high quality ceramic, type X5R or X7R, input decoupling capacitor of at least 10  $\mu$ F of effective capacitance on the PVIN input voltage pins. These capacitors must be connected as close as physically possible to the input pins of the converters. In some applications additional bulk capacitance may also be required for the PVIN input. The effective capacitance includes any DC bias effects. The voltage rating of the input capacitor must be greater than the maximum input voltage. The capacitor must also have a ripple current rating greater than the maximum input current ripple of The TPS65265. The input ripple current can be calculated using Equation 12.

$$I_{\rm INrms} = I_{\rm OUT} \times \sqrt{\frac{V_{\rm OUT}}{V_{\rm IN min}} \times \frac{(V_{\rm IN min} \times V_{\rm OUT})}{V_{\rm IN min}}}$$
(12)

The value of a ceramic capacitor varies significantly over temperature and the amount of DC bias applied to the capacitor. The capacitance variations due to temperature can be minimized by selecting a dielectric material that is stable over temperature. X5R and X7R ceramic dielectrics are usually selected for power regulator capacitors because they have a high capacitance to volume ratio and are fairly stable over temperature. The output capacitor must also be selected with the DC bias taken into account. The capacitance value of a capacitor decreases as the DC bias across a capacitor increases. The input capacitance value determines the input ripple voltage of the regulator. The input voltage ripple can be calculated using Equation 13.

$$\Delta V_{\rm IN} = \frac{I_{\rm OUT\,max} \times 0.25}{C_{\rm IN} \times f_{\rm SW}}$$
(13)

### 9.2.2.4 Bootstrap Capacitor Selection

The device has two integrated boot regulators and requires a small ceramic capacitor between BST and LX pins to provide the gate drive voltage for the high side MOSFET. TI recommends a ceramic capacitor of 0.047  $\mu$ F. A ceramic capacitor with an X7R or X5R grade dielectric is desired because of the stable characteristics over temperature and voltage.

### 9.2.2.5 Loop Compensation

TPS65270 is a current mode control DC-DC converter. The error amplifier has 130-µA/V transconductance.





Figure 10. Loop Compensation

A typical compensation circuit could be type II ( $R_c$  and  $C_c$ ) to have a phase margin from 60 to 90 degrees, or type III ( $R_c$ ,  $C_c$  and  $C_{ff}$ ) to improve the converter transient response.  $C_{Roll}$  adds a high frequency pole to attenuate high-frequency noise when required. It may also prevent noise coupling from other rails if there is possibility of cross coupling between rails when layout is very compact.

To calculate the external compensation components follow the following steps:

	TYPE II CIRCUIT	TYPE III CIRCUIT
Select switching frequency that is appropriate for application depending on L, C sizes, output ripple, EMI concerns and etc. Switching frequencies from 500 kHz to 1 MHz give best trade off between performance and cost. When using smaller L and Cs, switching frequency can be increased. To optimize efficiency, switching frequency can be lowered.	_	Use type III circuit for switching frequencies higher than 500 kHz.
Select cross over frequency $(f_C)$ to be less than 1/5 to 1/10 of switching frequency.	Suggested $f_C = f_S / 10$	Suggested $f_C = f_S / 10$
Set and calculate R <sub>C</sub> .	$R_{C} = \frac{2\pi \times f_{c} \times V_{O} \times C_{O}}{g_{M} \times Vref \times gm_{ps}}$	$R_{C} = \frac{2\pi \times f_{c} \times C_{O}}{g_{M} \times gm_{ps}}$
Calculate C <sub>C</sub> by placing a compensation zero at or before the converter dominant pole $fp = \frac{1}{C_O \times R_L \times 2\pi}$	$C_{c} = \frac{R_{L} \times Co}{R_{c}}$	$C_{c} = \frac{R_{L} \times Co}{R_{c}}$
Add C <sub>Roll</sub> if required to remove large signal coupling to high impedance COMP node. Make sure that $fp_{\text{Roll}} = \frac{1}{2 \times \pi \times \text{R}_{\text{C}} \times \text{C}_{\text{Roll}}}$ is at least twice the cross over frequency.	$C_{\text{Roll}} = \frac{\text{Re}_{\text{sr}} \times \text{C}_{\text{O}}}{\text{R}_{\text{C}}}$	$C_{Roll} = \frac{Re_{sr} \times C_{O}}{R_{C}}$
Calculate C <sub>ff</sub> compensation zero at low frequency to boost the phase margin at the crossover frequency. Make sure that the zero frequency (fz <sub>ff</sub> is smaller than soft start equivalent frequency (1 / $T_{ss}$ ).	_	$C_{ff} = \frac{1}{2 \times \pi \times f z_{ff} \times R_1}$



### 9.2.3 Application Curves

 $T_A = 25^{\circ}C$ ,  $V_{IN} = 12$  V,  $f_{SW} = 625$  kHz (unless otherwise noted).



**NSTRUMENTS** 

**EXAS** 

 $T_A = 25^{\circ}C$ ,  $V_{IN} = 12$  V,  $f_{SW} = 625$  kHz (unless otherwise noted).



### **10** Power Supply Recommendations

The device is designed to operate with an input voltage supply from 4.5 V to 18 V. This input power supply must be well regulated. If the input supply is placed more than a few inches from the TPS65270 converter, bulk capacitance may be required in addition to the ceramic bypass capacitors. An electrolytic capacitor with a value of 47  $\mu$ F is a typical choice.

### 11 Layout

### 11.1 Layout Guidelines

Layout is a critical portion of PMIC designs.

- Place VOUT, and LX on the top layer and an inner power plane for VIN.
- Fit also on the top layer connections for the remaining pins of the PMIC and a large top side area filled with ground.
- The top layer ground area sould be connected to the bottom ground layer(s) using vias at the input bypass capacitor, the output filter cpacitor and directly under the TPS65270 device to provide a thermal path from the Powerpad land to ground.
- The AGND pin must be tied directly to the power pad under the IC and the power pad.
- For operation at full rated load, the top side ground area together with the bottom ground plane, must provide adequate heat dissipating area.
- There are several signals paths that conduct fast changing currents or voltages that can interact with stray
  inductance or parasitic capacitance to generate noise or degrade the power supplies performance. To help
  eliminate these problems, the VIN pin must be bypassed to ground with a low ESR ceramic bypass capacitor
  with X5R or X7R dielectric. Minimize the loop area formed by the bypass capacitor connections, the VIN pins,
  and the ground connections. Because the LX connection is the switching node, the output inductor must be
  placed close to the LX pins, and the area of the PCB conductor minimized to prevent excessive capacitive
  coupling.
- The output filter capacitor ground must use the same power ground trace as the VIN input bypass capacitor. Try to minimize this conductor length while maintaining adequate width.
- The compensation must be as close as possible to the COMP pins. The COMP and OSC pins are sensitive to noise so the components associated to these pins must be placed as close as possible to the IC and routed with minimal lengths of trace.



### 11.2 Layout Example



Figure 18. Example Layout for the TPS65270

### 11.3 Power Dissipation

The total power dissipation inside TPS65270 must not exceed the maximum allowable junction temperature of 125°C to maintain reliable operation. The maximum allowable power dissipation is a function of the thermal resistance of the package ( $R_{\theta JA}$ ) and ambient temperature.

To calculate the temperature inside the device under continuous loading use the following procedure.

- 1. Define the set voltage for each converter.
- 2. Define the continuous loading on each converter. Make sure do not exceed the converter maximum loading.
- 3. Determine from the graphs below the expected losses in watts per converter inside the device. The losses depend on the input supply, the selected switching frequency, the output voltage and the converter chosen.

TEXAS INSTRUMENTS

www.ti.com

### **Power Dissipation (continued)**

4. To calculate the maximum temperature inside the IC use the following formula:

 $T_{HOT\_SPOT} = T_A + P_{DIS} \times R_{\theta JA}$ 

#### where

- P<sub>DIS</sub> is the sum of losses in all converters
- R<sub>0JA</sub> is the junction to ambient thermal impedance of the device and it is heavily dependant on board layout





### **12 Device and Documentation Support**

### **12.1** Documentation Support

### 12.1.1 Related Documentation

For related documentation see the following:

PowerPAD<sup>™</sup> Thermally Enhanced Package (SLMA002)

### 12.2 Receiving Notification of Documentation Updates

To receive notification of documentation updates, navigate to the device product folder on ti.com. In the upper right corner, click on *Alert me* to register and receive a weekly digest of any product information that has changed. For change details, review the revision history included in any revised document.

### 12.3 Community Resources

The following links connect to TI community resources. Linked contents are provided "AS IS" by the respective contributors. They do not constitute TI specifications and do not necessarily reflect TI's views; see TI's Terms of Use.

TI E2E<sup>™</sup> Online Community *TI's Engineer-to-Engineer (E2E) Community.* Created to foster collaboration among engineers. At e2e.ti.com, you can ask questions, share knowledge, explore ideas and help solve problems with fellow engineers.

**Design Support TI's Design Support** Quickly find helpful E2E forums along with design support tools and contact information for technical support.

### 12.4 Trademarks

PowerPAD, E2E are trademarks of Texas Instruments. All other trademarks are the property of their respective owners.

#### 12.5 Electrostatic Discharge Caution



This integrated circuit can be damaged by ESD. Texas Instruments recommends that all integrated circuits be handled with appropriate precautions. Failure to observe proper handling and installation procedures can cause damage.

ESD damage can range from subtle performance degradation to complete device failure. Precision integrated circuits may be more susceptible to damage because very small parametric changes could cause the device not to meet its published specifications.

### 12.6 Glossary

SLYZ022 — TI Glossary.

This glossary lists and explains terms, acronyms, and definitions.

### 13 Mechanical, Packaging, and Orderable Information

The following pages include mechanical, packaging, and orderable information. This information is the most current data available for the designated devices. This data is subject to change without notice and revision of this document. For browser-based versions of this data sheet, refer to the left-hand navigation.



### PACKAGING INFORMATION

Orderable Device	Status	Package Type	Package	Pins	Package	Eco Plan	Lead finish/	MSL Peak Temp	Op Temp (°C)	Device Marking	Samples
	(1)		Drawing		Qty	(2)	Ball material	(3)		(4/5)	
							(6)				
TPS65270PWPR	ACTIVE	HTSSOP	PWP	24	2000	RoHS & Green	NIPDAU	Level-2-260C-1 YEAR	-40 to 85	TPS65270	Samples
TPS65270RGER	ACTIVE	VQFN	RGE	24	3000	RoHS & Green	NIPDAU	Level-1-260C-UNLIM	-40 to 85	TPS 65270	Samples
TPS65270RGET	ACTIVE	VQFN	RGE	24	250	RoHS & Green	NIPDAU	Level-1-260C-UNLIM	-40 to 85	TPS 65270	Samples

<sup>(1)</sup> The marketing status values are defined as follows:

ACTIVE: Product device recommended for new designs.

LIFEBUY: TI has announced that the device will be discontinued, and a lifetime-buy period is in effect.

NRND: Not recommended for new designs. Device is in production to support existing customers, but TI does not recommend using this part in a new design.

**PREVIEW:** Device has been announced but is not in production. Samples may or may not be available.

**OBSOLETE:** TI has discontinued the production of the device.

<sup>(2)</sup> RoHS: TI defines "RoHS" to mean semiconductor products that are compliant with the current EU RoHS requirements for all 10 RoHS substances, including the requirement that RoHS substance do not exceed 0.1% by weight in homogeneous materials. Where designed to be soldered at high temperatures, "RoHS" products are suitable for use in specified lead-free processes. TI may reference these types of products as "Pb-Free".

**RoHS Exempt:** TI defines "RoHS Exempt" to mean products that contain lead but are compliant with EU RoHS pursuant to a specific EU RoHS exemption.

Green: TI defines "Green" to mean the content of Chlorine (CI) and Bromine (Br) based flame retardants meet JS709B low halogen requirements of <=1000ppm threshold. Antimony trioxide based flame retardants must also meet the <=1000ppm threshold requirement.

<sup>(3)</sup> MSL, Peak Temp. - The Moisture Sensitivity Level rating according to the JEDEC industry standard classifications, and peak solder temperature.

<sup>(4)</sup> There may be additional marking, which relates to the logo, the lot trace code information, or the environmental category on the device.

(5) Multiple Device Markings will be inside parentheses. Only one Device Marking contained in parentheses and separated by a "~" will appear on a device. If a line is indented then it is a continuation of the previous line and the two combined represent the entire Device Marking for that device.

<sup>(6)</sup> Lead finish/Ball material - Orderable Devices may have multiple material finish options. Finish options are separated by a vertical ruled line. Lead finish/Ball material values may wrap to two lines if the finish value exceeds the maximum column width.

**Important Information and Disclaimer:**The information provided on this page represents TI's knowledge and belief as of the date that it is provided. TI bases its knowledge and belief on information provided by third parties, and makes no representation or warranty as to the accuracy of such information. Efforts are underway to better integrate information from third parties. TI has taken and continues to take reasonable steps to provide representative and accurate information but may not have conducted destructive testing or chemical analysis on incoming materials and chemicals. TI and TI suppliers consider certain information to be proprietary, and thus CAS numbers and other limited information may not be available for release.



In no event shall TI's liability arising out of such information exceed the total purchase price of the TI part(s) at issue in this document sold by TI to Customer on an annual basis.



Texas

www.ti.com

### TAPE AND REEL INFORMATION





#### QUADRANT ASSIGNMENTS FOR PIN 1 ORIENTATION IN TAPE



*All dimensions are nominal												
Device	Package Type	Package Drawing	Pins	SPQ	Reel Diameter (mm)	Reel Width W1 (mm)	A0 (mm)	B0 (mm)	K0 (mm)	P1 (mm)	W (mm)	Pin1 Quadrant
TPS65270PWPR	HTSSOP	PWP	24	2000	330.0	16.4	6.95	8.3	1.6	8.0	16.0	Q1
TPS65270RGER	VQFN	RGE	24	3000	330.0	12.4	4.25	4.25	1.15	8.0	12.0	Q2
TPS65270RGET	VQFN	RGE	24	250	180.0	12.4	4.25	4.25	1.15	8.0	12.0	Q2



# PACKAGE MATERIALS INFORMATION

19-Sep-2023



\*All dimensions are nominal

Device	Package Type	Package Drawing	Pins	SPQ	Length (mm)	Width (mm)	Height (mm)
TPS65270PWPR	HTSSOP	PWP	24	2000	356.0	356.0	35.0
TPS65270RGER	VQFN	RGE	24	3000	346.0	346.0	33.0
TPS65270RGET	VQFN	RGE	24	250	182.0	182.0	20.0

# **PWP 24**

# **GENERIC PACKAGE VIEW**

# PowerPAD<sup>™</sup> TSSOP - 1.2 mm max height

PLASTIC SMALL OUTLINE

4.4 x 7.6, 0.65 mm pitch

This image is a representation of the package family, actual package may vary. Refer to the product data sheet for package details.





# **PWP0024U**



# **PACKAGE OUTLINE**

# PowerPAD<sup>™</sup> TSSOP - 1.2 mm max height

SMALL OUTLINE PACKAGE



NOTES:

PowerPAD is a trademark of Texas Instruments.

- 1. All linear dimensions are in millimeters. Any dimensions in parenthesis are for reference only. Dimensioning and tolerancing per ASME Y14.5M. 2. This drawing is subject to change without notice. 3. This dimension does not include mold flash, protrusions, or gate burrs. Mold flash, protrusions, or gate burrs shall not

- exceed 0.15 mm per side. 4. Reference JEDEC registration MO-153.
- 5. Features may differ or may not be present.



# **PWP0024U**

# **EXAMPLE BOARD LAYOUT**

# PowerPAD<sup>™</sup> TSSOP - 1.2 mm max height

SMALL OUTLINE PACKAGE



NOTES: (continued)

- 6. Publication IPC-7351 may have alternate designs.
- 7. Solder mask tolerances between and around signal pads can vary based on board fabrication site.
- 8. This package is designed to be soldered to a thermal pad on the board. For more information, see Texas Instruments literature numbers SLMA002 (www.ti.com/lit/slma002) and SLMA004 (www.ti.com/lit/slma004).
- 9. Size of metal pad may vary due to creepage requirement.
- 10. Vias are optional depending on application, refer to device data sheet. It is recommended that vias under paste be filled, plugged or tented.



# **PWP0024U**

# **EXAMPLE STENCIL DESIGN**

# PowerPAD<sup>™</sup> TSSOP - 1.2 mm max height

SMALL OUTLINE PACKAGE



NOTES: (continued)

11. Laser cutting apertures with trapezoidal walls and rounded corners may offer better paste release. IPC-7525 may have alternate design recommendations.

12. Board assembly site may have different recommendations for stencil design.



# **GENERIC PACKAGE VIEW**

# VQFN - 1 mm max height

PLASTIC QUAD FLATPACK - NO LEAD



Images above are just a representation of the package family, actual package may vary. Refer to the product data sheet for package details.



# **RGE0024B**



# **PACKAGE OUTLINE**

### VQFN - 1 mm max height

PLASTIC QUAD FLATPACK - NO LEAD



NOTES:

- 1. All linear dimensions are in millimeters. Any dimensions in parenthesis are for reference only. Dimensioning and tolerancing per ASME Y14.5M. 2. This drawing is subject to change without notice.
- 3. The package thermal pad must be soldered to the printed circuit board for thermal and mechanical performance.



# **RGE0024B**

# **EXAMPLE BOARD LAYOUT**

### VQFN - 1 mm max height

PLASTIC QUAD FLATPACK - NO LEAD



 This package is designed to be soldered to a thermal pad on the board. For more information, see Texas Instruments literature number SLUA271 (www.ti.com/lit/slua271).

5. Vias are optional depending on application, refer to device data sheet. If any vias are implemented, refer to their locations shown on this view. It is recommended that vias under paste be filled, plugged or tented.



# **RGE0024B**

# **EXAMPLE STENCIL DESIGN**

## VQFN - 1 mm max height

PLASTIC QUAD FLATPACK - NO LEAD



6. Laser cutting apertures with trapezoidal walls and rounded corners may offer better paste release. IPC-7525 may have alternate design recommendations.



### IMPORTANT NOTICE AND DISCLAIMER

TI PROVIDES TECHNICAL AND RELIABILITY DATA (INCLUDING DATA SHEETS), DESIGN RESOURCES (INCLUDING REFERENCE DESIGNS), APPLICATION OR OTHER DESIGN ADVICE, WEB TOOLS, SAFETY INFORMATION, AND OTHER RESOURCES "AS IS" AND WITH ALL FAULTS, AND DISCLAIMS ALL WARRANTIES, EXPRESS AND IMPLIED, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION ANY IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE OR NON-INFRINGEMENT OF THIRD PARTY INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS.

These resources are intended for skilled developers designing with TI products. You are solely responsible for (1) selecting the appropriate TI products for your application, (2) designing, validating and testing your application, and (3) ensuring your application meets applicable standards, and any other safety, security, regulatory or other requirements.

These resources are subject to change without notice. TI grants you permission to use these resources only for development of an application that uses the TI products described in the resource. Other reproduction and display of these resources is prohibited. No license is granted to any other TI intellectual property right or to any third party intellectual property right. TI disclaims responsibility for, and you will fully indemnify TI and its representatives against, any claims, damages, costs, losses, and liabilities arising out of your use of these resources.

TI's products are provided subject to TI's Terms of Sale or other applicable terms available either on ti.com or provided in conjunction with such TI products. TI's provision of these resources does not expand or otherwise alter TI's applicable warranties or warranty disclaimers for TI products.

TI objects to and rejects any additional or different terms you may have proposed.

Mailing Address: Texas Instruments, Post Office Box 655303, Dallas, Texas 75265 Copyright © 2024, Texas Instruments Incorporated